2007-CA -01417

T

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record for the Appellant in this matter certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate disqualification or recusal, pursuant to Rule 28 (1) of the Rules of Appellant Procedure.

- 1. Frank Garrison Appellant and Defendant below, represent by Ben M. Logan, Esq., Post Office Box 826, Tupelo, MS 38802 on appeal and Honorable Michael McHenry, Esq., Post Office Box 7316, Tupelo, MS 38802.

II.	Statement of Case			
	A.	Nature of Case	2.	
	B.	Course of the Proceedings.	2.	
	C.	<u>Dispostion</u>	3.	
	D.	Statement of Facts.	4	
III.	Sum	Summary of Legal Argument9		
IV.	<u>Argu</u>	Argument 9		
V.	Conclusion.			
	Cert	Certificate of Service		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases:

<u>Hicks v. Thomas</u> , 516 So. 2d 134 (Miss. 1987)			
Statutes:			
Miss. Code Anno. Section 15-3-1(d) (1972 as amended)			
Miss. Code Anno. Section 15-3-1 (c) (1972 as amended)			
Miss. Code Anno. Section 63-21-31 (1972 as amended)			
Miss. Code Anno. Section 63-21-33 (1972 as amended)			
Miss. Code Anno. Section 27-53-13 (1972 as amended)			
Miss. Code Anno. Section 27-53-15 (1972 as amended)			
Miss. Code Anno. Section 27-53-27 (1972 as amended)			
Miss. Code Anno. Section 63-21-31(1)(5) (1972 as amended)			

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. The Chancellor erred as a matter of law in finding that title to mobile homes passed to Jimmy Garrison during the March 2006 real estate transaction between M. R. Anderson, Frank Garrison and Jimmy Garrison.
- II. The Chancellor erred as a matter of law in failing to vest title of the mobile homes in C. E. Garrison and J. F. Garrison.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This appeal involves a transaction between two brothers, Frank Garrison, Appellant, and Jimmy Garrison, Appellee. The transaction was the May 2006 sale of the Twin Creeks mobile home park by Frank Garrison to Jimmy Garrison. Frank Garrison contends that the sale involved the real estate only. Jimmy Garrison contends that he purchased both the land and thirty (30) manufactured homes owned by Twin Creeks. In October 2006, Jimmy Garrison entered into a contract for the sale and purchase of the land and manufactured homes to third party buyers. From the original transaction in May 2006 until January 2007, the brothers have argued about the ownership of the thirty (30) manufactured homes, culminating in written notice by Frank Garrison on January 5, 2007 that the payoff on the real property did not include the thirty (30) units. (Transcript; January 22, 2007; Page 34, Exhibit 9).

B. Course of the Proceedings:

On January 16, 2007, Jimmy Garrison filed his Complaint for Tortuous Interference With Contract, Motion for Preliminary Mandatory Injunction, Temporary Restraining Order And For Permanent Mandatory Injunction And A Motion For Declaratory Judgment, against brother Frank Garrison, Maxium, Inc., and Eagle Horn, Inc. An "emergency" hearing was had on January 22, 2007, wherein the Chancellor granted Jimmy Garrison's preliminary injunction, and due to testimony adduced at the hearing casting doubt as to the ownership of the thirty (30) mobile homes and their inclusion in the sale, the Chancellor ruled:

As soon as is practical, the parties shall proceed on the Plaintiff's Motion for Declaratory Judgment. The object of that proceeding shall be to determine the thirty (30) mobile homes in question. If it is determined that the Plaintiff is the owner of the thirty (30) mobile homes he shall receive the money paid into the registry of the Court. If it is determined that the Defendant, Frank Garrison, or some other person is the lawful owner of the mobile homes the money shall be distributed accordingly. Alternatively, should the Court determine after a full hearing on the merits that an agreement existed between the parties to split any profit made from the sale above \$800,000.00 the Court will adjust the equities accordingly.

(Record, Page 92).

On March 15, 2007 Sandra Brown (Frank Garrison's ex-wife), C. E. "Chris" Garrison and J. F. "Josh" Garrison (Frank and Sandra's sons) entered an appearance as necessary parties and requested the Court to reconsider its ruling of January 23, 2007. (Record 130-132). An Agreed Order was entered, denying the motion to reconsider but allowing the three to intervene as party defendants. (Records 133-134).

C. Disposition

After extensive discovery on June 5, 2007, the hearing on the merits was conducted. The Chancellor found that Frank Garrison was the "true owner" of the mobile homes and that, "Title to the land and mobile homes passed to Jimmy subject to a valid purchase him against said property, real and personal. Jimmy now owns the land and thirty (30) mobile homes subject to the above mentioned deed of trust and security agreement."

(Record 230-231).

Frank, Josh and Chris Garrison moved to reconsider and the motion was denied. Frank Garrison appealed to this Court. Jimmy Garrison moved to require Frank Garrison, the appellant, to post supersedeas, and the motion was denied. Jimmy Garrison also moved before this Court to dismiss the appeal on the basis of Frank Garrison's lack of standings, and such motion was dismissed for such argument to be made on appeal.

D. Statement of Facts

Frank Garrison acquired the real property known as the Twin Creeks Manufactured Home Community some time ago. The real property was held in the name of Mary Anderson, Frank and Jimmy Garrison's aunt. From 2001 to late 2003 or early 2004, Frank Garrison and his wife Sandra began to acquire manufactured home units to sell and to place on the property. (Deposition of Sandra Garrison, Pages 74-80, Exhibit 2, June 5, 2007) (Transcript, June 5, 2007, Pages 186-187). These units were refurbished, and some rented out to tenants, awaiting ultimate disposition. Sandra, a licensed dealer, purchased units as Sandra Garrison d/b/a Capital. Frank Garrison was later licensed, and purchased units as Frank Garrison, or A-1 Home Town Sales. On almost all of the thirty (30) units in dispute, certificates of title and bills of sale flowed to Sandra and Frank Garrison. Two or three of the units were purchased by Frank Garrison at tax sales and titled either in his name or his son's names. Title to many of the units remained "open" but possessed by either Frank Garrison, A-1-Home Town Sales, Sandra Garrison or Capital.

Frank and Sandra Garrison separated in 2004, and bitter divorce litigation ensued, culminating in divorce in July 2006. When Sandra separated, she left the titles and sale paperwork with Frank Garrison. At the time of the divorce, including her Rule 8.05 Disclosure, executed July 3, 2006, she believed that Frank Garrison had disposed of the titles and trailers or had put them in his or someone else's name. She did not claim them on her Rule 8.05

Disclosure. (Deposition of Sandra Garrison, Pages 20-21, Exhibit 2, June 5, 2007 hearing). On March 24, 2006, Frank Garrison d/b/a A-1 Home Town Sales executed bills of sales to thirteen (13) of the units to his sons Chris and Josh Garrison. (See Exhibits to Depositions of C. E. Garrison and J. F. Garrison, Exhibits 3 and 4 of June 5, 2007 hearing). Frank Garrison did not deliver the certificates of title. Frank Garrison did not claim the units on his Rule 8.05 Disclosure, also executed in July 2005. Twin Creeks was one of the Frank Garrison family businesses. Up until her separation with Frank Garrison, Sandra acted as a licensed manufactured home dealer, bookkeeper and helped run the park. Chris and Josh Garrison performed work for their parents, including work around the park. They continued to work for their dad after the separation.

Frank had been approached several times to sell the mobile home park. In early 2006, he began discussing a sale of the park to his brother, Jimmy Garrison. On May 23, 2006, Jimmy Garrison executed a Promissory Note and a Purchase Money Land Deed of Trust and Security Agreement. (Exhibit 5, January 22, 2007 hearing). The Promissory Note was made out to Maxium, Inc., one of Frank Garrison's corporations. (Exhibit 2, January 22, 2007 hearing). A Warranty Deed was also executed on May 23, 2006 conveying the real property from the record title owner, M. R. "Mary" Anderson, to Jimmy Garrison. (Exhibit 3, January 22, 2007 hearing). These execution of these documents all occurred at the Law Office of Riley, Caldwell, Cork and Alvis in Tupelo, Mississippi. None of these documents referenced or spoke to the thirty (30) mobile homes that is the subject matter of this dispute. The Deed of Trust was secured by the real property and promissory note. The promissory note was for \$800,000.00 at 8% interest to be paid back to Maxium, Inc. over 8 years with monthly payments of \$11,309.34 (Exhibit 2,

Hearing of January 22, 2007).

Later in the afternoon of May 23, 2006, without Frank Garrison present, and at Jimmy Garrison's car lot, M. R. "Mary" Anderson, the record title holder of the real property, signed a combined bill of sale for all of the mobile home units to Jimmy Garrison. (Transcript, January 22, 2007 Page 25). Jimmy Garrison took this document to the Chancery Clerk's office in Union County to record it, and was directed to file individual bills of sale. On May 26, 2006, M. R. "Mary" Anderson signed over those individual bills of sale to Jimmy Garrison.

Jimmy and Frank Garrison's mother, Ann Starling, President of Maxium, Inc., had previously executed a power of attorney to Frank Garrison. On September 6, 2006, Frank Garrison exercised this power of attorney and assigned the deed of trust to Eagle Horn, Inc., a corporation Frank Garrison set up in his sons' names. (Exhibit 6, January 22, 2007 hearing).

Frank Garrison contends that the mobile home units were not a part of the sale. Frank Garrison argues the brothers had discussed these, but did not reach agreement. Jimmy Garrison argues that the trailers were a part of this agreement.

These bills of sale were prepared from handwritten notes that Jimmy Garrison's secretary received from Frank Garrison during the earlier negotiations (Exhibit 12, Hearing January 22, 2007) and not from the original certificates of title and bills of sale to Sandra Garrison, Capital, Frank Garrison or A-1 Home Town Sales. (Transcript, Page 65, Testimony of Cathy Cunningham, January 22, 2007). Jimmy Garrison claimed that Frank Garrison delivered the titles at the subsequent closing at his car lot "on the day of the sale, the best I recall" "in a white envelope." (Transcript, page 54, Testimony of Jimmy Garrison, January 22, 2007). Frank Garrison denies this. Ann Starling, the mother of Jimmy and Frank Garrison, testified that

Jimmy Garrison told her of the titles, "I don't have to have them. I haven't got them, and I don't have to have them." (Transcript, page 115, Testimony of Ann Starling, January 22, 2007). Frank Garrison testified that he was upset when he learned that Jimmy Garrison had directed M. R. "Mary" Anderson to sign over bills of sales on the mobile homes without the actual certificates and supporting documentation. (Transcript, June 5, 2005, pages 200-202). M. R. "Mary" Anderson was never in possession of the originals nor was she anywhere in the chain of title. (Transcript, Page 83, Testimony of M. R. "Mary" Anderson, January 22, 2007). On October 14, 2007, Frank Garrison filed an offense report with the Union County Sheriff's Department that someone had stolen the original titles and supporting documentation from his automobile while it was parked at his mother's house in Sherman, Mississippi. (Exhibit 11, January 22, 2007). The original titles and supporting documents appeared at the hearing, introduced by Jimmy Garrison, not in a white envelope but in an expandable folder all neatly arranged. (Exhibit 10, January 22, 2007). When asked if he reviewed the titles, Jimmy Garrison stated, "No, I did not. I ain't looked at none of them." (Transcript, page 56, Lines 22-24; Testimony Jimmy Garrison, January 22, 2007). The original titles and supporting documents remain in the lower court file today. An examination of each of them shows that some are still open, some in Frank Garrison's name, some in Sandra Brown's name, some in Capital, some in A-1 Hometown Sales. None of them were ever signed over to M. R. "Mary" Anderson or to Jimmy Garrison.

On October 31, 2006, Jimmy Garrison entered into a contract with William and Vanessa Taylor, entitled "Contract for Purchase and Sales." (Record Page 15-22, Exhibit 1, Plaintiff's Complaint). The drafter of the contract took great care to list the thirty (30) mobile homes by year make, model and serial number, and stated, "Together with the necessary transferring bills of sale the seller also agrees to provide existing bills of sale evidencing seller ownership to

facilitate buyers acquisition of new titles covering the referenced mobile homes." (Record; Page 17, Paragraph 1). Of note is the lack of inclusion of such identifying written provisions in any of the agreements between Frank Garrison, M. R. "Mary" Anderson or Jimmy Garrison. The sale of the land and thirty (30) mobile homes by Jim to the third party was for \$1,225,000.00, listing the consideration for the mobile homes at \$287,200.00 and the infrastructure and land at \$901,000.00. (Record, Page 17, Paragraph 2).

Frank Garrison and Sandra Brown began to have discussions after their divorce about the conflict over the trailers between Frank Garrison and Jim Garrison. Frank Garrison let Sandra Brown know that many of the trailers still belonged to her. On November 29, 2006, in a precautionary act, Sandra Brown executed a bill of sale to her son Josh Garrison of all of the trailers either titled or in the chain of title to her, and delivered it to Frank Garrison in trust to deliver to Josh Garrison at her direction if anything happened to her. (Transcript, June 5, 2007, Pages 222-225; and Exhibit 1 of that hearing). Sandra Brown grew tired of the ongoing litigation, and directed Frank Garrison convey the bill of sale to Josh Garrison the weekend prior to the June 5, 2007 hearing. She did not attend the hearing.

At the hearing on the merits, the status of the original certificates of title and chains of title thereto to the mobile homes was that they were all in Chris and Josh Garrison's names by virtue of the March and November 2006 bills of sale from their parents. No where in the voluminous record is any support that the original titles or the chains of title were executed or placed in M. R. "Mary" Anderson, who purported to convey them to Jimmy Garrison on March 23 or March 26, 2007. Despite this, the Chancellor deemed that Frank Garrison was the true owner of the mobile homes, and he passed the title of same to Jimmy Garrison by virtue of the deed of trust and promissory note to Maxium, Inc., later assigned to Eagle Horn, Inc. to Jimmy

Garrison.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Despite these convoluted transactions and a highly dysfunctional extended family, the legal issues are fairly simple and rest on long-established principles of Mississippi law. It is expected that much will be made by the Appellee of how shady a character Frank Garrison is, which is not hereby admitted. However, assuming that Frank Garrison is a shady character, the underlying principles of law provide precautions when dealing with such men, and they simply were not followed by Jimmy Garrison, a used car dealer very familiar with both vehicle titles and brother Frank Garrison. The first issue on appeal as set forth above is settled quickly by the Statute of Frauds. The alleged sale of the mobile homes with the land was not in writing, and as such unenforceable. The second issue on appeal as set forth above likewise is settled by application of the Mississippi motor vehicle titling laws. The original certificates of titles or the chains of titles thereto were never executed to M. R. "Mary" Anderson or Jimmy Garrison.

Consequently, she could not convey what she did not own – regardless of who the true owner was. Her actions are no different than having the V.I.N. number to someone's car and giving a bill of sale on it to Jimmy Garrison.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Chancellor erred as a matter of law in finding that title to mobile homes passed to

Jimmy Garrison during the March 2006 real estate transaction between M. R. Anderson, Frank

Garrison and Jimmy Garrison.

Mississippi Statute requires certain contracts to be in writing:

An action shall not be brought to charge a defendant or other party:

. . .

(d) upon any agreement which is not to be performed within the space of fifteen months from the making thereof.

. . .

unless, in each of said cases, the promise or agreement upon which such acting may be brought, or some memorandum thereof, shall be in writing, and signed by the party to be charged therewith or signed by some person by him or her thereunto lawfully authorized in writing.

Miss. Code Anno. § 15-3-1 (d)(1972 as amended).

No "document or memorandum thereof" is present in this record wherein Frank Garrison, A-1 Home Town Sales, Sandra Garrison, Capital, Maxium, Chris Garrison or Josh Garrison conveyed to M. R. "Mary" Anderson or Jimmy Garrison thirty (30) manufactured homes, established by the Plaintiff's own complaint to be worth \$297,000.00. The buyers from Jimmy Garrison made sure that such a provision was in their contract for purchase and sale. Jimmy Garrison made sure that the land description was in a deed, and Frank Garrison made sure that such a description — along with the terms of the promissory note — were included in the deed of trust as required by Miss. Code Anno. § 15-3-1 (c), "upon any contract for sale of lands…".

The note and deed of trust that specified the real property to be sold was for a term of at least eight (8) years, well beyond the fifteen month requirement set forth above. If the land and mobile homes were to be sold together as Jimmy Garrison argues, then the terms of the above documents clearly exceeded fifteen months.

Appellee will certainly argue that the <u>Purchase Money Land Deed of Trust and Security</u>

PAGE 10.

Agreement (Exhibit 5, January 22, 2007) has a dragnet provision securing "fixtures" to Maxium, Inc./Frank Garrison and including the mobile homes in such a definition. This agreement should fail for two reasons. First, the conveyance of land from M. R. "Mary" Anderson to Jimmy Garrison neither describes nor specifies such fixtures as having been conveyed. Secondly, the type of "fixtures" that a manufactured home might become can only be conveyed pursuant to the motor vehicle titling laws set forth in Miss. Code Anno. § 63-21-31 and § 63-21-33 (1972 as amended). This was simply not done.

Jimmy Garrison was taken aback, as was the Chancery Clerk, that only eight (8) mobile homes out of the thirty (30) that had been enrolled on the ad valorem tax rolls as real or personal property pursuant to Miss. Code Anno. § 27-53-15, § 27-53-13 or exempt under § 27-53-27. (Transcript, Page 26, January 22, 2007). And of those enrolled, title was in Frank Garrison or one of his sons, representing those units purchased at tax sales. Whether Frank Garrison was right or wrong in his claim that he was exempt from real or personal property taxes as a dealer under Miss. Code Anno. § 27-53-27(c), that is between Frank Garrison and Union County, not proof of "fixtures" as may be argued.

Jimmy Garrison's claim that he bought the trailers as a part of the overall deal fails due to the lack of a writing that they were included and the lack of the signature of the party to be charged.

B. The Chancellor erred as a matter of law in failing to vest title of the mobile homes in C. E. Garrison and J. F. Garrison.

The motor vehicle titling statutes are clear:

(1) If an owner transfers his interest in a vehicle, manufactured home or mobile home, other than by creation of a security interest, he shall at the time of the

delivery of the vehicle, manufactured home, execute an assignment and warranty of title of the transferee in the space provided therefore on the certificate or as the State Tax Commission prescribes, and cause the certificate and assignment to be mailed or delivered to the transferee.

and...

(5) Except as provided in Section 63-21-35, and as between the parties, a transfer by an owner is not effective until the provisions of this chapter are complied with.

Miss. Code Anno. § 63-21-31 (1)(5) (1972 as amended).

In the seminal case on this statutory requirement, <u>Hicks v. Thomas</u>, 516 So.2d 134 (Miss. 1987), the Supreme Court clearly explains both the rationale and the rule

If there be any area where we ought to move heaven and earth to avoid uncertainties and indeterminancies that seem to incessantly infect our law, it is with regard to titles. Motor vehicles, because of their mobility and value, are particularly in need of a uniform title system, one which at any point in time may allow it to be determined with certainty who is the owner. Such a title system facilitates the recovery of lost or stolen vehicles and the perfecting of security interest in vehicles.

Hicks, 516 So.2d at 1346.

As to the rule, "Our legislature has provided such a system in the form of the Mississippi Motor Vehicle Title Law, originally enacted in 1968." <u>Id.</u> Further, "<u>That statute accepts certainty</u> of title as our primary value, and provides a simple method for transferring title to motor vehicles – endorsement and delivery to the transferree of the title certificate." <u>Id.</u> (Emphasis added).

As in <u>Hicks</u>, "No one suggests that Thomas ever signed or endorsed his title certificate to Cross, Daniels, Hicks or anyone else," and no one suggests that Frank Garrison, Sandra Garrison, Capital, A-1 Home Town Sales, Maxium, Josh or Chris Garrison ever signed the titles to the thirty (30) trailers to M. R. "Mary" Anderson, Jim Garrison or anyone else. <u>Id</u>.

As has been pointed out in the argument above, no security interest was created in these mobile homes because they were never identified in the deed, promissory note or deed of trust. Jimmy Garrison is not unlearned of the titling law – HE IS A CAR DEALER. Although his purchaser put the obligation to convey certificates of title in the purchase contract, Jimmy Garrison has neither proved a writing obligating Frank Garrison or any owner of the units to transfer title, nor has he received through anyone the transfer of title required by statute. Unless, Jimmy Garrison can prove that he falls within one of the exceptions, his or M. R. "Mary" Anderson's claim to the trailers must fail as a matter of clear statutory law. If Frank Garrison is the owner as found by the Chancellor, then he must obligate himself to convey title in writing or actually convey title in accordance with the statute. He has done neither, and the Chancellor erred as a matter of law in divesting him or his son's with ownership and placing it with Jimmy Garrison; through M. R. "Mary" Anderson or anyone else.

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