2007-CA-01417

RE: FRANK GARRISON V. JIMMY W. GARRISON SUPREME COURT # 2007-CA-01417

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF UNION COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT W. DAVIS, JR. MS. BAR # ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE 542 JEFFERSON STREET POST OFFICE BOX 1525 TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 38802 TELEPHONE (662) 842-2222 FACSIMILE (662) 842-2567

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

Summary of the Argument

Issue One

Appellant, Frank Garrison, has no standing to pursue the instant appeal. Whether or not Frank ever owned or controlled the mobile homes that are the subject matter of this litigation, he now has absolutely no legal interest in them whatsoever. Frank, from the beginning of the litigation, claimed that he had no interest in the mobile homes, or in any corporation that itself had an interest in the mobile homes. The Chancellor found, as a matter of law and fact, that he did have an interest in the mobile homes, but that he conveyed that interest to the Appellee, Jimmy Garrison. Whether Frank is correct, or whether the Chancellor is correct, it is undisputed by any party that Frank *now* has no legal interest in the subject matter of this litigation.

Issue Two

Should this Court find that the Appellant *does* have standing to bring the instant appeal, it should find that the Statute of Frauds, Mississippi Code Annotated §15-3-1, is satisfied by the Bills of Sale drafted and signed at the direction of the Appellant. At the specific direction of the Appellant, Ms/ Cunningham prepared, and Ms. Anderson signed Bills of Sale on each and every mobile home that is the subject matter of this litigation. Said Bills of Sale certainly satisfy the memorandum of the agreement requirement in §15-3-1.

Issue Three

Should this Court find that the Appellant does have standing to bring the instant appeal, it should find that Mississippi Code Annotated §63-21-31 did not require the Appellant to sign and deliver any Certificates of Title to the Appellee. Paragraph 51 of the Purchase Money Land Deed of Trust and Security Agreement creates a security interest in "...such Personal Property, which shall

include but not be limited to all mobile homes which are now, or may be in the future located on the subject real property." Thus, under §63-21-31 (4) no transfer to the Appellee of any Certificates of Title was required.

Issue Four

It is undisputed that the Appellant, Frank Garrison, has no legal interest in the subject matter of this litigation. Indeed, nowhere in his appeal brief does the Appellant does seek to be vested with any interest in the mobile homes. The law regarding standing is clear and unambiguous. Furthermore, the Appellant is benefiting financially from the delay between trial and the outcome of this appeal. Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure this Court *must* award just damages and single or double costs to the Appellee.

Argument

Issue One

The Appellant has no legal interest in the subject matter of this litigation, and thus lacks standing to bring the instant appeal.

In order for a party to have standing to seek relief that party must have some legal interest at stake in the outcome of the litigation. <u>Smith v. Malouf</u>, 722 So.2d 490 at 499 (Miss. 1998). In the instant appeal, it is undisputed by anyone that the Appellant has no legal interest at stake in the outcome of this litigation.

As noted above, Frank disclaimed in any interest in the subject matter of this litigation in deposition,¹⁵ and at trial,¹⁶ and on appeal.¹⁷ Jimmy, has always contended that while Frank was the true owner of the mobile homes they were conveyed to him as part of the purchase of Twin Creeks Mobile Home Park, and that after the transfer of that property in September 2006, the mobile homes no longer belonged to Frank. The Chancellor ruled that regardless of in whose name the mobile homes may have been titled, the true owner of those homes was in fact Frank, but that his ownership of those mobile homes transferred to Jimmy upon Jimmy's purchase of Twin Creeks Mobile Home Park.

The one and only thing in this litigation that everyone agrees on is that Frank Garrison, the one and only Appellant herein, *now* has no legal interest in the mobile homes which are the subject matter of this litigation. Thus, under <u>Smith v. Malouf</u>, this appeal should be dismissed would no

¹⁵ Appellee's Record Excerpt 1.

¹⁶ Transcript page 172.

¹⁷ Appellant's Brief at page 14.

further consideration of the issues raised by the appellant.

Issue Two

As argued above, the Appellant does not have standing to bring the instant appeal. Therefore, this Court need not decide whether the Chancellor's ruling was in error. However, should this Court find that the Appellant *does* have standing to bring the instant appeal, it should find that the Statute of Frauds, Mississippi Code Annotated §15-3-1, is satisfied by the Bills of Sale drafted and signed at the direction of the Appellant.

At trial Ms. Cunningham testified that she, at Frank's specific direction prepared a Bill of Sale for each one of the thirty mobile homes in question.¹⁸ Those Bills of Sale were marked and admitted into evidence as Exhibit 7. Those Bills of Sale were signed by the "owner" of the corporation, Maxim, Ms. Anderson, with the knowledge of and at the direction of Frank.¹⁹ Thus, the memorandum requirement in §15-3-1 is satisfied.

That Frank himself did not sign these Bills of Sale is of no consequence. The Chancellor concluded that Frank tried in various ways to hide his ownership of the land and the mobile homes.²⁰ Having his and Jimmy's aunt, M. R. Anderson execute the Bills of Sale on behalf of a corporation that she supposedly controlled was merely part of this ruse. The Chancellor saw through the ruse, and found that the transfer of the mobile homes to Jimmy, by Ms. Anderson, at the direction of Frank was valid and binding.

¹⁸ Transcript pages 64-68.

¹⁹ Transcript pages 79-81.

²⁰ Record page 236.

Issue Three

As argued above, the Appellant does not have standing to bring the instant appeal. Therefore, this Court need not decide whether the Chancellor's ruling was in error. However, should this Court find that the Appellant *does* have standing to bring the instant appeal, it should find that Mississippi Code Annotated §63-21-31 did not require the Appellant to sign and deliver any Certificates of Title to the Appellee.

Appellant points out that Mississippi Code Annotated §63-21-31 requires that a Certificate of Title be endorsed by the seller and delivered to the buyer. Appellant notes that in the instant case, neither Frank, nor anyone else acting on his behalf, nor anyone acting on behalf of those he contends to be the "true owners" of the mobile homes endorsed any Certificates of Title. This is true.

What is also true, however, is that Frank delivered the titles to Jimmy.²¹ The titles were introduced into evidence as Exhibit 10. Frank claims that he never delivered the titles to Jimmy. Rather Frank insists that Jimmy stole the titles from him.

Either way it simply makes no difference for the purposes of analyzing the effect of Mississippi Code Annotated §63-21-31 on Jimmy's ownership of the mobile homes. Pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated §63-21-31(4) neither Frank nor anyone else acting on behalf of the owner needed to have endorsed any certificate of title to Jimmy. Because §63-21-31(4) provides in part as follows:

If a security interest is reserved or created at the time of the transfer, the certificate of title shall be retained by or delivered to the person who becomes the lien holder...

²¹ Transcript pages 38 and 39.

Frank alleges in his brief that no security interest was created in the mobile homes at the time of the transfer. However, the facts fail to bear that out. On the date of the purchase, Jimmy executed a Purchase Money Land Deed of Trust and Security Agreement in favor of J. Patrick Caldwell, Trustee and Maxium, Inc., the Beneficiary.²² A security interest was created in the mobile homes by Paragraph 51 of the Purchase Money Land Deed of Trust and Security Agreement.²³ Thus, even though Frank delivered the blank certificates of title to jimmy it was not necessary that any certificates of title, much less endorsed certificates of title be delivered to Jimmy as Frank argues in his brief.

Issue Four

Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 38 reads as follows:

In a civil case if the Supreme Court of Court of Appeals shall determine that an appeal is frivolous, it shall award just damages and single or double costs to the appellee.

An appeal is frivolous when, objectively speaking, the appellant has no hope of success.

McCoy v. City of Florence, 949 So.2d 69 at 39 (Miss.Ct.App. 2006), citing Little v. Collier, 759 So.2d 454 (Miss.Ct.App. 2000).

The present appeal is clearly frivolous, because the Appellant has, objectively speaking, no hope of success. To begin with, it's obvious from a simple reading of the Appellant's brief that he claims no legal interest in the subject matter of the litigation. Neither does the Appellant claim to be protecting any legal interest of his that was adversely affected by the Chancellor's ruling. It is an

²² Record page 188.

²³ Record page 207.

elementary principal of law that if one has no legal interest in the outcome of litigation, one has no standing to pursue the said litigation. <u>Smith v. Malouf</u>, 722 So.2d 490 at 499 (Miss. 1998).

Further, the two main points the Appellant brings forward in his brief are easily dismissed even upon a cursory review of the record. Appellant claims in his brief that no memorandum of the transaction exists as called for by Mississippi Code Annotated §15-3-1. Yet one Bill of Sale, prepared at the direction of the Appellant and signed with his knowledge and acquiescence, was introduced at trial as Exhibit 4, and thirty other such Bills of Sale were introduced at trail as Exhibit 7.

As his second point, the Appellant contends that Mississippi Code Annotated §63-21-31 was not complied with. He even goes so far as to assert:

As has been pointed out in the argument above, no security interest was created in these mobile homes because they were never identified in the deed, promissory note or deed of trust.²⁴

This is patently false, and a cursory glance at the record would have told him this. Paragraph 51 of the Purchase Money Land Deed of Trust and Security Agreement expressly creates "...a security interest in all mobile homes which are now, or may be in the future located on the subject real property."²⁵

Beyond being simply frivolous, the Appellee respectfully asserts that the present appeal was taken by the appellant in bad faith. On or about October 30, 2006 the Appellee entered into a contract with William H. Taylor, Jr. and Vanessa C. R. Taylor whereby he would sell the mobile

²⁴ Brief of the Appellant page 13.

²⁵ Record page 207..

home park, inclusive of the mobile homes, to the Taylors for a substantial profit.²⁶ Upon learning of this sale, and being requested to provide a payoff for the property, the Appellant, through counsel, refused to provide a payoff insisting that the mobile homes were not sold along with the land.²⁷ Thus, the sale to the Taylors was thwarted. As of the date of this filing, the Appellant, Frank Garrison, and all other entities created and controlled by him, including Maxim, Inc. and Eagle Horn, Inc. have refused to provide an unqualified payoff.

Despite the delays and the difficulties, the Taylors are still willing to purchase the Twin Creeks development. They have made efforts to appease Frank and work with him so that the sale can be consummated. At one point, after trial but prior to the filing of this brief, Mr. Taylor was told that Frank believed that he was entitled to a portion of Jimmy's profit from the sale of the park, and that he intended to delay the sale long enough to receive the equivalent amount of money in interest payments from Jimmy.²⁸

Should this Court find the appeal to be frivolous within the meaning of Rule 38, then it *must* award "just damages" and single costs. This Court *may* award double costs. Since the Appellee had a ready willing and able buyer for the mobile home park before the initial complaint was filed, and since that same buyer stands ready today to consummate the sale, "just damages" should include not only the Appellee's attorney's fees, but also the interest and expenses he has paid in relation to the park since the date of the Chancellor's ruling.

²⁶ Record page 8.

²⁷ Trial Exhibit 9.

²⁸ See the Affidavit of William H. Taylor, Jr. attached hereto as Appendix A.

Since the date of the Chancellor's ruling, the Appellee has incurred \$5,000.00 in attorney's fees, \$54,598.82 in interest payments, and \$69,987.13 in operational related expenses.²⁹ This totals damages in the amount \$129,585.95. Because of the nature of this case, the Appellee's damages will continue to accrue daily until this matter is resolved. Therefore, should this Court find the appeal to be frivolous and award just damages plus single or double costs in this matter, it should specify in it's ruling the items of damage it believes should be awarded, and remand this matter to the Chancellor for the purpose of calculating the exact amount of those damages.

Conclusion

The Appellant has no legal interest in the subject matter of this litigation, and thus lacks standing to bring the instant appeal. He neither asserts a legal interest in the subject matter of this litigation, nor does he request that this Court vest any such interest in him. As an elementary principal of law, a person must have standing in order to proceed with litigation. Since the appellant, by his own assertions has no interest of the subject matter of the litigation, he has no standing to appeal the judgment of the chancellor. The appelee claims, and the chancellor found, that the appellant transferred his interest in the mobile homes to the appellee. The appellee claims that he never had an interest in the mobile homes to transfer away. Either way, it is absolutely undisputed that the appellant *has no* legal interest in the subject matter of this litigation. Therefore, the appeal should be dismissed without consideration of the issues raised in the appellants brief.

Should this Court find that the Appellant does have standing to bring the instant appeal, it should find that the Statute of Frauds, Mississippi Code Annotated §15-3-1, is satisfied by the Bills

²⁹ See the Affidavit of Jimmy W. Garrison attached hereto as Appendix B, the spreadsheet attached hereto as Appendix C, and the spreadsheet attached hereto as Appendix D.

of Sale drafted and signed at the direction of the Appellant.

Should this Court find that the Appellant does have standing to bring the instant appeal, it should find that Mississippi Code Annotated §63-21-31 did not require the Appellant to sign and deliver any Certificates of Title to the Appellee because a Security Interest was created in the mobile homes by Paragraph 51 of the Purchase Money Land Deed of Trust and Security Agreement.

Because it so clearly apparent, and absolutely undisputed, that the Appellant has no legal interest in the subject matter of this litigation, this Court *must* award just damages and single costs, and *should* award double costs to the Appellee pursuant to Rule 38 of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure. Because the Appellee damages are continuing in nature, and because the extent of those damages will need sworn testimony to prove, this court should determine the items of damage, for which the appellee is entitled to recover and remand the question of the amount of these damages to the Chancellor for determination.